# **Rapid hospital readiness checklist**

A module from the suite of health service capacity assessments in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic

INTERIM GUIDANCE 25 November 2020





# **Rapid hospital readiness checklist**

A module from the suite of health service capacity assessments in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic

INTERIM GUIDANCE 25 November 2020





#### Rapid hospital readiness checklist

WHO continues to monitor the situation closely for any changes that may affect this interim guidance. Should any factors change, WHO will issue a further update. Otherwise, this interim guidance document will expire 2 years after the date of publication.

© World Health Organization 2020. Some rights reserved. This work is available under the <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u> licence.

This interim guidance is an update to the version published 25 June 2020.

WHO reference number: WHO/2019-nCoV/hospital\_readiness\_checklist/2020.2

# Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
INTRODUCTION	5
Context	5
OBJECTIVES OF THIS MODULE: RAPID HOSPITAL READINESS CHECKLIST FOR COVID-19	5
General objective	5
Specific objectives	5
Content	6
Target audience	6
Key questions that this Checklist can help to answer	6
When to use the Checklist	
Modes of data collection	6
Ethical considerations	6
USING THE CHECKLIST	7
TECHNICAL GUIDANCE ON USING THE CHECKLIST	
How to use the Checklist	
REPORT	
WHO RAPID HOSPITAL READINESS CHECKLIST	10
IDENTIFICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE HOSPITAL	10
Key components of the Checklist	10
Component 1. Leadership and incident management system	
Component 2. Coordination and communication	
Component 3. Surveillance and information management	
Component 4. Risk communication and community engagement	
Component 5. Administration, finance and business continuity	
Component 6. Human resources	
Component 7. Surge capacity	
Component 8. Continuity of essential support services	
Component 9. Patient management	
Component 10. Occupational health, mental health and psychosocial support	
Component 11. Rapid identification and diagnosis	
Component 12. Infection prevention and control	
KEY APPROACHES	11
PREPARE FOR ALL-HAZARD EMERGENCIES	
TRAIN HOSPITAL STAFF	
IMPLEMENT INFECTION PREVENTION AND CONTROL MEASURES	
CONSIDER THE HOSPITAL'S SECURITY CONCERNS ASSOCIATED WITH ITS CONTEXT AND/OR LOCATION	
Ensure business continuity of the hospital	12
CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	
ANNEX 1. SUITE OF HEALTH SERVICE CAPACITY ASSESSMENTS IN THE CONTEXT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC	17
ANNEX 2. DATA SHARING	18

## Acknowledgements

The document was developed in consultation with World Health Organization (WHO) staff and reviewed by international experts. WHO wishes to recognize all who contributed to different stages of the development of the *Rapid hospital readiness checklist* for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

Coordination and main contributors: Qudsia Huda, Jostacio Lapitan and Kathleen Warren, WHO headquarters.

Reviewers: Paul Merlevede and Walt Vernon, International Federation of Healthcare Engineering.

**WHO contributors**: From the Regional Office for the Americas/Pan American Health Organization – Diana Albán, Silvain Aldighieri, Victor Ariscain, Celso Bambarén, Haley Burrous, Alex Camacho, Thais Dos Santos, Jean-Marc Gabastou, Edgar Gallo, Jonás Gonseth, Jorge Jara, Nicolas Lagomarsino, Hernán Luque, Pilar Ramon, Angel Rodriguez, Juan Carlos Sánchez, Alejandro Santander, Joao Toledo, Miguel Angel Vasquez and Andrea Vicari.

From the Regional Office for Europe – Jan Bremer, Alyssa Ferguson, Karen Hammad, Üllar Kaljumäe, Adrienne Rashford and Jetri Regmi.

From WHO headquarters – Jonathan Abrahams, Céline Barnadas, Diarmid Campbell-Lendrum, Stella Chungong, Frederik Copper, Zee-A Han, Dirk Horemans, Ivan Ivanov, Nirmal Kandel, Fernanda Lessa, Landry Ndriko Mayigane, Abbas Omaar, Kathryn O'Neill, Briana Rivas-Morello, Gina Samaan, Romina Stelter, Ludy Suryantoro, Anthony Twyman and Janet Vega.

# Introduction

#### Context

On 30 January 2020, the Director-General of the World Health Organization (WHO), declared the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak to be a global public health emergency of international concern under the International Health Regulations. Following the spread of COVID-19 cases in many countries across continents, COVID-19 was characterized as a pandemic on 11 March 2020 by the Director-General, upon the advice of the International Health Regulations Emergency Committee.

The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to shine a light on the fragility of public health systems globally. It has revealed that even robust health systems can be rapidly overwhelmed and compromised by an outbreak. The WHO *2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV): strategic preparedness and response plan* outlines the public health measures that need to be considered by countries to prevent, prepare for and respond to the COVID-19 pandemic (1). The Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan for COVID-19 supports countries to rapidly identify the relevant actions from their national plans for health security and pandemic influenza preparedness that are pertinent to managing the COVID-19 pandemic and can be adapted using the knowledge that has been gained about the COVID-19 virus. Using these national plans will help guide and align all national and international partners to support national governments in managing the pandemic. The nine pillars of the Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan for COVID-19 refer to different aspects of the pandemic and allow countries to develop capacities to respond to the crisis, including by taking measures to strengthen their health systems. In the context of COVID-19, the specialized services offered by health care facilities will be required to serve the affected population, especially those services available in hospitals.

To respond to the pandemic, WHO developed the *Rapid hospital readiness checklist* and an accompanying tool. The tool has been designed to help assess the overall readiness of hospitals and to identify a set of priority actions to be taken to prepare for, be ready for and respond to the pandemic. This tool forms part of a wider Suite of health service capacity assessments in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. These monitoring tools focus on different aspects necessary to maintain essential health services while continuing to manage COVID-19 cases. The suite and the different modules are described in Annex 1.

This WHO *Rapid hospital readiness checklist* is based on WHO's Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan for COVID-19 (1), WHO's *Hospital preparedness for epidemics* and interim versions of similar checklists from WHO's Regional Office for the Americas/Pan American Health Organization, the Regional Office for Europe and WHO headquarters, including *Preventing and managing COVID-19 across long-term care services*.

#### Objectives of this module: Rapid hospital readiness checklist for COVID-19

The *Rapid hospital readiness checklist* for COVID-19 assesses hospitals' governance, structures, plans and protocols to help countries rapidly determine their current capacities and gaps in services necessary to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, to help them identify major areas that require investment and action, and to develop plans to improve hospital readiness. The tool can be used periodically to monitor the development of hospitals' capacity and operational readiness for emergencies. Although the Checklist's main focus is to assess hospital readiness, it can be adapted for use in long-term care facilities. In this document, the term hospital also applies to certain types of long-term care facilities for which this Checklist can be adapted.

#### **General objective**

The WHO *Rapid hospital readiness checklist* for COVID-19 primarily assists hospitals in preparing to effectively respond to the pandemic by assessing existing capacities and identifying those areas that need further strengthening.

#### **Specific objectives**

The specific objectives of the Checklist are to:

• assess the capacities of a hospital against a set of requirements for effectively managing COVID-19 risks;

- identify gaps in a hospital's readiness for the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as determine how it will maintain continuity in other essential health services (i.e. business continuity); and
- engage hospital personnel and stakeholders in the process of applying findings from the Checklist to strengthen coordination mechanisms by adapting existing hospital emergency management mechanisms, plans or procedures to manage the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Content

The Checklist highlights 12 key components that are essential to managing COVID-19 in a hospital setting. These components are:

- 1. leadership and incident management system;
- 2. coordination and communication;
- 3. surveillance and information management;
- 4. risk communication and community engagement;
- 5. administration, finance and business continuity;
- 6. human resources;
- 7. surge capacity;
- 8. continuity of essential support services;
- 9. patient management;
- 10. occupational health, mental health and psychosocial support;
- 11. rapid identification and diagnosis;
- 12. infection prevention and control.

#### **Target audience**

Potential users of this assessment tool include:

- hospital leaders and the team responsible for the incident management system;
- the hospital's emergency committee (including the hospital's epidemic subcommittee, if any);
- hospital managers and administrators;
- ministries of health (national and subnational authorities);
- hospital staff (e.g. those tasked with planning for emergencies, operational readiness and surge capacity); and
- managers and administrators of long-term care facilities.

#### Key questions that this Checklist can help to answer

This Checklist can help answer some important questions including the following.

- Do facilities have the necessary arrangements and back-up arrangements in place to respond to COVID-19, including ensuring safe and high-quality care of patients with COVID-19 and those who do not have COVID-19, and can they continue to provide essential public health services safely?
- Which recommended actions need to be prioritized and invested in to make the facility fully functional?
- What are the priority to-do actions in case of a surge?

#### When to use the Checklist

This Checklist can be used from before the start of an emergency and throughout its various stages.

#### Modes of data collection

Data can be collected both on paper and electronically.

#### **Ethical considerations**

The guidance provided is not considered research, therefore there was no need to submit it to the WHO Research Ethics Review Committee. Individual countries may need approval from local ethics committees, depending on local law and guidelines. Countries should ensure that they fulfil their ethical obligations by submitting the Checklist to the pertinent local ethics board. Respondents are asked upfront for their informed consent. The WHO data sharing agreement "Policy on use and sharing of data collected in Member States by the World Health Organization (WHO) outside the context of public health emergencies" specifies arrangement with regards to usage, and dissemination of the data gathered. The agreement is attached as Annex 2. Using the Checklist.

The current and rapidly evolving nature of the COVID-19 pandemic requires hospitals and long-term care facilities to have in place all essential preparedness measures. These measures may vary depending on the designated role of each hospital or facility and the way in which it is linked to the country's overall plan for managing the pandemic while continuing to provide essential services to other patients who require care. These roles are likely to include (a) testing people for COVID-19 and managing early investigations to identify confirmed cases who require hospital care, (b) providing treatment for COVID-19 cases, (c) continuing to provide routine essential health services, (d) preventing patients or residents of long-term care facilities from acquiring COVID-19 while in a hospital or facility and (e) communicating information about COVID-19 as part of the country's and hospitals' risk communication strategy, which should be coordinated with the central response system and affected communities, with the aim of containing and mitigating the pandemic.

The purpose of the Checklist is to help hospital and facility managers optimize their capacities to prepare for managing COVID-19 patients. It has been designed to be user friendly, accounting for the human resources and time required to conduct and complete it.

The Checklist carefully connects the hospital's or facility's COVID-19 capacity requirements with the:

- existing plans and capacities for managing epidemics and seasonal outbreaks of diseases, such as influenza, and highlights the measures needed to protect staff, other patients and visitors from infection;
- plans and capacities to manage emergencies and disasters arising from other hazards;
- general and specialized services that are normally provided;
- designated role during the COVID-19 pandemic, including any specific services that it will offer.

Thus, the Checklist takes into account a range of issues, including the need to continue providing care to patients with acute or chronic illnesses; the laboratory services needed; the relevant blood supplies and services required; the need to provide community health outreach activities, such as immunizations and antenatal care; the distribution, tracking and security of medicines and medical supplies; how hospitals manage information; the need to train staff and other personnel; security challenges, including protecting health care and social workers, patients and residents of long-term facilities, caregivers and visitors; and the need for mental health and psychosocial support for all hospital staff, both medical and non-medical.

While completing the Checklist, users should also consider any additional challenges the health system may face in ensuring preparedness for other outbreaks and concurrent emergencies. These considerations are included in the Checklist, along with an emphasis on the importance of having adequate back-up arrangements for many components of hospital readiness.

This Checklist should be adapted to national and local contexts by taking into account a country's policies, guidance, local risks, requirements, standards and practices. The Checklist can be used periodically (at intervals of 3 months or 6 months) to monitor the progress of a hospital's readiness for the COVID-19 pandemic.

Although the Checklist's main focus is to assess a hospital's readiness, it can be adapted to help managers in longterm care facilities rapidly determine current capacities and gaps in services for responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, to identify major areas that require investment and action, and to develop readiness improvement plans. The needs of long-term care facilities vary by country. Nursing homes, skilled nursing facilities, assisted living facilities, residential facilities and residential long-term care facilities are collectively known as long-term care facilities, and they provide a variety of services, including medical and assistive care, to people who are unable to live independently in the community (38). However in this Checklist, long-term care facilities do not include home-based long-term care, community centres, adult day care facilities or respite care.

The Checklist comes with an Excel file that provides indicative quantification and analysis of a hospital's readiness for COVID-19.

The Checklist should be used as a general reference tool in conjunction with other more in-depth assessment modules from WHO. WHO already has published the *Health emergency and disaster risk management framework* and *Hospital preparedness for epidemics*.

#### Technical guidance on using the Checklist

The Checklist identifies the key capacities needed to ensure hospital readiness for a COVID-19 response. It is recommended that this tool be tailored to local contexts, such as the role that the hospital is expected to play in response to the pandemic. For example, some hospitals may be designated as specialized treatment hospitals for COVID-19 cases while others may be designated to provide services that do not focus on these patients .

The Checklist can be adapted to develop situation reports, provide technical guidance (which can be supported by video presentations) and develop public advice to ensure its relevance to the rapidly evolving COVID-19 situation. Therefore, it is recommended that hospital staff regularly review and adapt policies, procedures and practices in response to guidance and updates that are communicated officially via ministries of health and other national or subnational health authorities, as well as WHO's dedicated COVID-19 web page. In principle, hospitals should be prepared for the worst-case scenario and, therefore, the assessment should assume sustained community transmission of COVID-19 with an expected surge of cases in the local area.

While the Checklist is included in this interim guidance document for easy reference, it is the companion interactive Excel tool that will be completed by users who conduct the readiness assessment. Responses entered into the Excel tool will be automatically analysed after it has been completed.

The Checklist uses colour-coded ratings to assess each component as:

- not available components are planned but have not started or do not exist;
- partially functional the component exists but is not comprehensive enough to achieve all of the core elements required to perform the action; or
- fully functional the component is effectively and efficiently operational, complying with standard approaches.

The Checklist also includes:

- a means of verification. The status of each recommended action should be accompanied by an explanation of how the information was verified, and comments should be added in the appropriate column in the Excel tool to support the assessment. For example, verification could include reviewing document policies, protocols, plans, lists, inventories, guidance, manuals, videos or information, education and communication materials. If there is no way to verify the status of the recommended action, then "none" should be entered. Additional comments may be used to elaborate on the status, for example, to describe why the assessment is rated as "partially functional";
- **a summary of priority actions**. This column should include a comprehensive list of the actions needed to address the identified gaps. The priority actions should be based on the status of the recommended actions discussed under each component.

#### How to use the Checklist

The following steps outline how the Checklist can be implemented.

- Form a team of evaluators from the hospital comprising representatives from managerial, technical, administrative, financial and medical (e.g. doctors, nurses) employees, based on the services offered by the hospital.
- Have the evaluation team go through the Checklist together to come to a common understanding of the approach and determine how the appropriate documents will be collected for each recommended action. This will allow the team to build connections with the relevant departments and services at the hospital.
- Ensure that the team is led by both a member of senior management and a doctor or nurse.
- Have the team conduct a workshop during which they collect and complete the information required for the Excel document.

- Use the corresponding Excel sheets to identify and describe the hospital in detail.
- Complete the Rapid hospital readiness checklist sheet using the drop-down menu in the Status column; select Not available, Partially functional or Fully functional for all categories from 1.1 to 12.16. Be sure to include information in the Means of verification column.
- After completing each section, list priority actions for that particular area in the Summary of priority actions column.
- Once the Excel sheet for the Hospital readiness checklist has been completed, select the Results overview tab. On the left-hand side, the status for each key component will already be summarized in a table with a total score and the percentage achieved. These scores and percentages will give a quantitative indication of the hospital's readiness for the COVID-19 pandemic. On the right-hand side, a visual representation of the percentage achieved in each category will be presented in a spider chart.
- Together, the analysis of the spider chart and the narrative derived from the Summary of priority actions column will become part of the report (see the next section), indicating the hospital's baseline readiness for the COVID-19 pandemic. This baseline will be used to monitor the progress of capacity development at the hospital.
- The hospital preparedness plan should be developed based on the priority actions listed for implementation for each component of the Checklist.
- This Checklist should be used periodically to assess and monitor the progress of the hospital's preparedness plan as it moves towards ensuring that each category is rated as Fully functional.

#### Report

The summaries for each key component in the Results overview sheet constitute the report. The quantitative analysis from the Excel document can be used to plan how to improve the hospital's or facility's level of readiness, in alignment with the national COVID-19 preparedness and response plan.

The Checklist includes recommended actions for high-level components in a hospital that are critical to the safe and effective management of risks and COVID-19 cases and to ensure the continuity of the hospital's services and functions. The outcome of the assessment can be used by the hospital to systematically prioritize and implement the recommended actions until all actions are considered to be fully functional.

As the Checklist is for internal use only, the leadership and incident management team of the hospital or facility (or its equivalent) may decide, as appropriate and necessary, with whom they will share the results; for example, they may choose to share with other hospitals in the hospital's network or with local and national authorities. In principle, transparency about and sharing of results is appreciated by staff and hospital stakeholders, including the emergency management community. Information sharing can be considered to be a bridge for enhancing relationships and support among stakeholders before, during and after an infectious disease outbreak or any other emergency.

# WHO Rapid hospital readiness checklist

This section describes the different parts of the checklist.

#### Identification and description of the hospital

The Facility identification sheet contains questions that help identify and describe the hospital or facility.

#### **Key components of the Checklist**

The Hospital readiness checklist sheet consists of 12 key components that are essential to managing COVID-19 in a hospital or facility. They are described below.

#### Component 1. Leadership and incident management system

Good leadership and a well-functioning hospital incident management system team are essential for the effective administration of emergency operations. Because many hospitals and facilities already have crisis management and emergency preparedness plans, WHO suggests adapting these plans to the core requirements for both the response to the COVID-19 outbreak and maintenance of the hospital's routine, essential health services. (For more information, see reference 7.)

#### **Component 2. Coordination and communication**

Accurate communication and timely coordination are necessary to ensure that risk analyses and decision-making are informed by data and there is effective collaboration, cooperation and confidence among all hospital staff and stakeholders. This component includes communication and coordination both within the hospital and through links with local and national authorities, including communities and primary health care services. (For more information, see references *8*, *9* and *10*.)

#### **Component 3. Surveillance and information management**

Global surveillance for COVID-19 is a basic activity needed to monitor and control the outbreak, especially in hospitals and long-term care facilities. The COVID-19 case definitions are based on current information and may be revised as new evidence emerges. Countries may need to adapt case definitions depending on their own epidemiological situation. Hospital information management complements surveillance and is crucial to raising public awareness about surveillance, the associated risks the emergency poses to people's health and the measures required to reduce these risks and respond to the emergency. (For more information, see reference *11*.)

#### **Component 4. Risk communication and community engagement**

Ensuring there is effective risk communication and community engagement will help limit or stop the spread of rumours about the outbreak and can be used to convey accurate and clear information about COVID-19. (For more information, see reference *12*.)

#### Component 5. Administration, finance and business continuity

Hospital or facility administration and finance activities comprise important, integral support systems for preventing, preparing for and responding to emergencies such as the COVID-19 pandemic. (For more information, see reference 13.)

#### **Component 6. Human resources**

People are the most important resource for preventing, preparing for, responding to and recovering from a disease outbreak. It is essential to review staffing requirements to ensure that hospitals and facilities are adequately staffed (e.g. assess the adequacy of the hospital's recall procedure for existing staff) with respect to the number of staff and the competencies required to deliver quality care to respond to the demands posed by an outbreak. (For more information, see reference 14.)

#### **Component 7. Surge capacity**

The goal of responses to this component is to enable the hospital to expand its ability to manage a sudden or rapidly progressive surge in demand for services created by an emergency. COVID-19 may cause a rapid and sustained increase in demand (i.e. a rising tide as opposed to the big bang of a sudden-onset disaster). The essential services and supplies needed to address the risks from COVID-19 include essential health care and the equipment and supplies necessary to maintain high-quality health care, especially for patients with severe cases of COVID-19. Additionally, an increased workload should be anticipated. (For more information, see references *15* and *16*.)

#### **Component 8. Continuity of essential support services**

While the outbreak of COVID-19 evolves and requires rapid scale up of emergency preparedness and operational readiness, there are also existing needs for essential medical and surgical care that routinely require a hospital's attention to ensure business continuity (e.g. emergency medical and surgical services). Therefore, hospitals must consider how best to safely continue and sustain continuity in their health services (e.g. in terms of supplies, logistics and pharmacy services) while addressing COVID-19 case management needs. (For more information, see references *17-19*.)

#### **Component 9. Patient management**

Patient management includes admission or referral, triage, diagnosis, treatment, patient flow and tracking, discharge and follow up, as well as management of support services, pharmacy services and logistics and supply functions. The goals are to ensure that (a) the hospital's patient management system remains safe, effective and efficient; and (b) the hospital can achieve safe and effective patient management under routine circumstances and when the COVID-19 pandemic makes increased demands on the hospital's resources and capacities. When dealing with an outbreak of a new communicable disease, measures should aim to ensure that hospitals have space for triage and to isolate suspected, probable and confirmed cases of COVID-19. Appropriate case or clinical management for people with COVID-19 is important and urgent. Setting up a treatment centre for patients with severe acute respiratory infection may be helpful. (For more information, see references 2 and 20–25.)

#### Component 10. Occupational health, mental health and psychosocial support

Occupational health, mental health and psychosocial support services are required to reduce the adverse psychological and social impacts of COVID-19 on hospital patients and staff, and members of the affected community. WHO has published guidance about assessing and managing risks to health care workers. Also, there are several publications that address the mental health and psychosocial issues associated with the pandemic. (For more information, see references *26–29*.)

#### **Component 11. Rapid identification and diagnosis**

The rapid identification and laboratory diagnosis of COVID-19 cases will ensure a logical and effective chain of events during case management. Laboratory services must be provided to support the hospital's preparedness, operational readiness and response activities, such as surveillance, infection prevention and control (IPC) and patient management; all of these must be accomplished in a timely and efficient manner. (For more information, see references *21* and *30*.)

#### **Component 12. Infection prevention and control**

Based on current information, it is assumed that COVID-19 is a zoonotic disease with human-to-human transmission enabled through breaches in IPC practices. Thus, an operational IPC programme is critical to minimize the risk of transmission and finally break the chain of transmission to hospital staff, close contacts, visitors and other patients/or residents in long-term care who do not have COVID-19 but who are being cared for in a hospital or longterm care facility. In anticipation of an increased workload and requirements for waste management and cleaning, hospitals and facilities should carefully consider scaling up personnel to meet the higher demand for IPC services. (For more information, see references *18*, *22* and *31–38*.)

## **Key approaches**

To ensure smooth implementation of the recommended actions in the Checklist, it is particularly important to take the following actions.

#### **Prepare for all-hazard emergencies**

Being prepared and ready for outbreaks, epidemics and pandemics implies:

- integrating recommended actions into an overall hospital or facility emergency risk management programme;
- conducting ongoing assessments of risks from the interactions of possible hazards, community vulnerabilities and the health system's strengths and weaknesses;
- engaging in risk reduction and emergency preparedness activities, such as emergency response planning, training and exercises;

- ensuring there is an early warning of hazards, including diseases, that may trigger activation of the hospital's emergency response plan, and ensuring there is an epidemic subplan (in the case of an outbreak, an early warning is usually given to hospitals by health authorities, but the warning may also result from detection by a hospital's surveillance system of an abnormal occurrence or change in the usual number of cases of a disease);
- implementing emergency response plans as necessary, including the hospital's epidemic subplan;
- ensuring there is a commitment by the hospital or facility or by the community (with hospital support) to
  undertake the readiness activities required to reduce the risks associated with an emergency and to acquire
  the capacity needed to ensure an effective emergency response;
- undertaking specific emergency preparedness activities to create or expand communication channels among the government, health sector entities, mass media and communities;
- developing or adapting emergency response plans, including the hospital's epidemic subplan, to ensure the continuity of clinical services critical to patients affected by an epidemic;
- ensuring there is periodic reassessment and updating of the hospital's or facility's emergency risk
  management programme and its emergency response plan to consider new developments and lessons
  documented and learned; and
- adapting and building on the hospital's capacity to cope not only with an epidemic but also with other forms
  of internal and external emergencies such as mass casualty events, disasters from natural hazards and fires
   to establish a single management system tailored to address concurrent risks and events likely to be faced
  when dealing with more than one type of emergency simultaneously.

#### **Train hospital staff**

In an emergency or disaster, hospital and facility staff are generally required to go beyond their routine roles and responsibilities and undertake tasks with which they are less familiar. Staff will likely have to carry out these new tasks in a stressful environment. To meet these new demands, all staff members – irrespective of their hospital, departmental and individual duties – need to be involved in the emergency planning process so that they can distinguish between their routine responsibilities and those required by the emergency and be ready to contribute to the emergency response. Staff also need training in implementing risk reduction measures and the procedures and protocols called for in the hospital's emergency response plan, including the epidemic subplan. Additionally, they must participate in the regular simulation exercises needed to maintain a state of operational readiness for fulfilling planned emergency tasks.

#### Implement infection prevention and control measures

Preventing the spread of infection to a hospital's or facility's staff, patients, residents in long-term care, caregivers and visitors is an absolute priority and calls for appropriate measures, including the use of personal protective equipment, and water, sanitation and hygiene strategies (known as WASH). Hospital management teams should review and, if necessary, revise the hospital's IPC protocols. Additional IPC measures may be required to cope with the specific nature of the COVID-19 pandemic. Implementing appropriate IPC measures at all times will strengthen a facility's capacity to put them into practice during a stressful pandemic situation. Therefore, these measures should be included in the hospital's permanent IPC strategy.

#### Consider the hospital's security concerns associated with its context and/or location

Hospitals and facilities will not be able to perform to their fullest potential if there are security concerns related to ongoing conflict where the facility is located. Ongoing conflict will directly impact the accessibility of health care services for patients and hospital staff. Therefore, hospitals and facilities must work closely with local and national authorities to ensure the safety and security of staff, patients, residents of facilities, caregivers and visitors and to ensure the optimum functionality of the hospital.

#### Ensure business continuity of the hospital

In the event of an outbreak, epidemic or pandemic, hospitals and facilities need to maintain all of their regular functions that address patients' health needs while establishing and strengthening the extra measures needed to address infectious diseases. Ensuring continuity includes managing all resources, including financial, human, supplies and technology. In particular, the referral system needs to be assessed and well managed to avoid any transmission

occurring to or from patients who are transferred by ambulance into or out of the facility. Business continuity must be prioritized at the outset of any emergency situation or at the earliest opportunity.

# Conclusions

WHO is working closely with Member States and partners to rapidly expand scientific knowledge to support all COVID-19 preparedness and response measures. At health facilities, specifically hospitals and those providing long-term care, staff need to be ready to effectively respond to patients with acute respiratory infections, especially those with moderate to severe disease. Accordingly, equipment and supplies need to be in place, such as mechanical ventilators and oxygen supplies; and information flow has to be optimized to make full use of hospitals during the COVID-19 pandemic.

This Checklist was developed to include qualitative measures to help underscore any capacity gaps in a hospital or facility. However, a corresponding scoring mechanism was also added for indicative quantification of a hospital's readiness and to allow for monitoring across time of the actions being taken to enhance the hospital's capacities. The Checklist is fully aligned with the Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan for COVID-19 (1) and will be adapted and revised, depending on feedback received.

## References

- 1. 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV): strategic preparedness and response plan, 4 February 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/publications-detail/strategic-preparedness-and-response-plan-for-the-new-coronavirus</u>, accessed 11 May 2020).
- Service availability and readiness assessment (SARA): an annual monitoring system for service delivery. Reference manual. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (WHO/HIS/HSI/2014.5 Rev.1; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/149025</u>, accessed 12 April 2020).
- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) technical guidance. The Unity Studies: early investigation protocols [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/early-investigations</u>, accessed 13 May 2020).
- 4. Hospital preparedness for epidemics. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/151281</u>, accessed 27 March 2020).
- 5. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019</u>, accessed 11 May 2020).
- 6. Health emergency and disaster risk management framework. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 ( https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326106, accessed 27 March 2020).
- Emergency response framework (ERF), second edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/258604</u>, accessed 20 February 2020).
- Hospital readiness checklist for COVID-19: interim document, version 5, 10 February 2020. Washington, DC: World Health Organization, Pan American Health Organization (<u>https://www.paho.org/en/documents/hospital-readiness-checklist-covid-19</u>, accessed 13 March 2020).
- Hospital readiness checklist for COVID-19: interim version, February 24, 2020. Copenhagen: World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/333972</u>, accessed 13 March 2020).
- Hospital readiness checklist for COVID-19: interim document, version 1, March 29, 2020. Cairo: World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (<u>http://www.emro.who.int/images/stories/coronavirus/documents/hospital\_readiness\_checklist\_for\_covid\_1\_9.pdf?ua=1</u>, accessed 28 May 2020).
- 11. Global surveillance for COVID-19 caused by human infection with COVID-19 virus: interim guidance, 20 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCoV/SurveillanceGuidance/2020.6; <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331506">https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331506</a>, accessed 20 March 2020).
- 12. Risk communication and community engagement readiness and response to coronavirus disease (COVID-19): interim guidance, 19 March 2020 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331513</u>, accessed 13 May 2020).
- 13. Home care for patients with COVID-19 presenting with mild symptoms and management of their contacts: interim guidance, 17 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCov/IPC/HomeCare/2020.3; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331473, accessed 12 April 2020).
- 14. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak: rights, roles and responsibilities of health workers, including key considerations for occupational safety and health: interim guidance, 19 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCov/HCW\_advice/2020.2; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331510</u>, accessed 19 March 2020).
- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) training: simulation exercise. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/training/simulation-exercise</u>, accessed 23 March 2020).

- 16. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection (SARI) when COVID-19 disease is suspected: interim guidance, 13 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCoV/clinical/2020.4; <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331446">https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331446</a>, accessed 13 March 2020).
- COVID-19: operational guidance for maintaining essential health services during an outbreak: interim guidance, 25 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019nCoV/essential\_health\_services/2020.1; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331561</u>, accessed 12 April 2020).
- 18. Infection prevention and control for the safe management of a dead body in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 24 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/COVID-19/IPC\_DBMgmt/2020.1; <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331538">https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331538</a>, accessed 24 March 2020).
- Water, sanitation, hygiene and waste management for COVID-19: technical brief, 3 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-NcOV/IPC\_WASH/2020.1; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331305</u>, accessed 21 March 2020).
- 20. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) technical guidance: patient management [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/patient-management</u>, accessed 20 February 2020).
- Operational considerations for case management of COVID-19 in health facility and community: interim guidance, 19 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019nCoV/HCF\_operations/2020.1; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331492</u>, accessed 23 March 2020).
- Severe acute respiratory infections treatment centre: practical manual to set up and manage a SARI treatment centre and a SARI screening facility in health care facilities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCoV/SARI\_treatment\_center/2020.1; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331603</u>, accessed 12 April 2020).
- 23. Laboratory testing for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in suspected human cases: interim guidance, 2 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/COVID-19/laboratory/2020.4 <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331329</u>, accessed 27 July 2020).
- 24. Guidance for managing ethical issues in infectious disease outbreaks. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/250580, accessed 20 February 2020).
- Prehospital emergency medical services: readiness checklist for COVID-19, version 2.3 (9 March 2020).
   Washington, DC: World Health Organization, Pan American Health Organization; 2020 (https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52169, accessed 23 March 2020).
- Risk assessment and management of exposure of health care workers in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance, 19 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019nCoV/HCW\_risk\_assessment/2020.2; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331496</u>, accessed 20 March 2020).
- Interim briefing note addressing mental health and psychosocial aspects of COVID-19 outbreak, version 1.5, February 2020. Geneva: Inter-Agency Standing Committee; 2020 (https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/iasc-reference-group-mental-health-and-psychosocial-supportemergency-settings/interim-briefing, accessed 23 March 2020).
- 28. HealthWISE work improvement in health services: action manual. Geneva: International Labour Office; 2014 (<u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_dialogue/---</u> <u>sector/documents/instructionalmaterial/wcms\_237276.pdf</u>, accessed 20 March 2020).
- 29. Xiang Y-T, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus is urgently needed. Lancet. 2020;7:P228–9. <u>doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30046-8</u>.

- Rational use of personal protective equipment (PPE) for coronavirus disease (COVID-19): interim guidance, 19 March 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCoV/IPC PPE\_use/2020.2; <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331498">https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/331498</a>, accessed 23 March 2020).
- Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) technical guidance: infection prevention and control/WASH [website].
   Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/infection-prevention-and-control</u>, accessed 12 April 2020).
- 32. Infection prevention and control (IPC) for novel coronavirus (COVID-19) [online course]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://openwho.org/courses/COVID-19-IPC-EN</u>, accessed 26 February 2020).
- 33. van Doremalen N, Bushmaker T, Morris DH, Holbrook MG, Gamble A, Williamson BN, et al. Aerosol and surface stability of SARS-CoV-2 compared with SARS-CoV-1. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1564–7. <u>doi:10.1056/NEJMc2004973</u>.
- Infection prevention and control (IPC) training package [online course]. Seattle: World Health Organization, US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, University of Washington Global Health E-Learning Program; 2020 (<u>https://ipc.ghelearning.org</u>, accessed 21 February 2020).
- 35. Safe management of wastes from health-care activities: a summary. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (WHO/FWC/WSH/17.05; <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259491</u>, accessed 21 February 2020).
- Best practices for environmental cleaning in healthcare facilities: in resource-limited settings, version 2. Atlanta, GA, and Cape Town, South Africa: US Department of Health and Human Services, Infection Control Africa Network; 2019 (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/hai/pdfs/resource-limited/environmental-cleaning-RLS-H.pdf</u>, accessed 21 February 2020).
- Infection prevention and control during health care when coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is suspected or confirmed: interim guidance, 29 June 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019nCoV/IPC/2020.4; <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-2019-ncov-ipc-2020.4</u>, accessed 27 July 2020).
- Preventing and managing COVID-19 across long-term care services: policy brief, 24 July 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (WHO/2019-nCoV/Policy Brief/Long-term Care/2020.1; <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Policy\_Brief-Long-term\_Care-2020.1">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV/Policy\_Brief-Long-term\_Care-2020.1</a>; September 2020).
- 39. Suite of health service capacity assessments in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic [website]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (<u>https://www.who.int/teams/integrated-health-services/monitoring-health-services,</u> accessed 12 October 2020).

# Annex 1. Suite of health service capacity assessments in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic

On 30 January 2020, the Director-General of the World Health Organization (WHO), declared the COVID-19 outbreak to be a global public health emergency of international concern under the International Health Regulations. Following the spread of COVID-19 cases in many countries across continents, COVID-19 was characterized as a pandemic on 11 March 2020 by the Director-General, upon the advice of the International Health Regulations Emergency Committee.

In response to this situation, the Suite of health service capacity assessments in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic has been developed to support rapid and accurate assessments of the current, surge and future capacities of health facilities throughout the different phases of the COVID-19 pandemic. The suite consists of two sets of modules that can be used to inform the prioritization of actions and decision-making at health facility, subnational and national levels:

1. Hospital readiness and case management capacity for COVID-19

This set of modules can be used to assess health facility readiness and case management capacities for COVID-19.

Continuity of essential health services in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic
 This set of modules can be used to assess health facility capacities to maintain delivery of essential health
 services. It can also be used to assess community needs and access to services during the COVID-19
 outbreak.

The modules are listed in Table A1.1.

Hospital readiness and case management capacity for COVID-19		
Module	Purpose	
Rapid hospital readiness checklist	To assess the overall readiness of hospitals and to identify a set of priority actions to prepare for, be ready for and respond to COVID-19	
Diagnostics, therapeutics, vaccine readiness, and other health products for COVID-19	To assess present and surge capacities for the treatment of COVID-19 in health facilities with a focus on availability of diagnostics, therapeutics and other health products as well as vaccine readiness, availability of beds and space capacities	
Biomedical equipment for COVID-19 case management – inventory tool	To conduct a facility inventory of biomedical equipment re-allocation, procurement and planning measures for COVID-19 case management	
Ensuring a safe environment for patients and staff in COVID-19 health-care facilities	To assess the structural capacities of hospitals to allow safe COVID-19 case management, maintain the delivery of essential services and enable surge capacity planning	
Infection prevention and control health-care facility response for COVID-19	To assess infection prevention and control capacities to respond to COVID-19 in health facilities	
Continuity of essential health services in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic		
Module	Purpose	
Continuity of essential health services – facility assessment tool	To assess the capacity of health facilities to maintain the provision of essential health services during the COVID-19 outbreak To assess workforce capacity during the outbreak, including availability, absences, COVID-19 infections, support and training	
Community needs and demands	To conduct a rapid pulse survey on community needs and perceptions around access to essential health services and community resilience during the COVID-19 outbreak	

#### Table A1.1. Suite of health service capacity assessment modules

Countries may select different combinations of modules according to context and the need for one-time or recurrent use throughout the pandemic.

# Annex 2. Data sharing

# Policy on use and sharing of data collected in Member States by the World Health Organization (WHO) outside the context of public health emergencies

Data are the basis for all sound public health actions, and the benefits of data sharing are widely recognized, including scientific and public health benefits. Whenever possible, WHO wishes to promote the sharing of health data, including but not restricted to surveillance and epidemiological data.

In this connection, and without prejudice to information sharing and publication pursuant to legally binding instruments, by providing data to WHO, the Ministry of Health of your Country confirms that all data to be supplied to WHO have been collected in accordance with applicable national laws, including data protection laws aimed at protecting the confidentiality of identifiable persons;

Agrees that WHO shall be entitled, subject always to measures to ensure the ethical and secure use of the data, and subject always to an appropriate acknowledgement of your Country:

- to publish the data, stripped of any personal identifiers (such data without personal identifiers being hereinafter referred to as "the Data") and make the Data available to any interested party on request (to the extent they have not, or not yet, been published by WHO) on terms that allow non-commercial, not-for-profit use of the Data for public health purposes (provided always that publication of the Data shall remain under the control of WHO);

- to use, compile, aggregate, evaluate and analyse the Data and publish and disseminate the results thereof in conjunction with WHO's work and in accordance with the Organization's policies and practices.

- Except where data sharing and publication is required under legally binding instruments (IHR, WHO Nomenclature Regulations 1967, etc.), the Ministry of Health of your Country may in respect of certain data opt out of (any part of) the above, by notifying WHO thereof, provided that any such notification shall clearly identify the data in question and clearly indicate the scope of the opt-out (in reference to the above), and provided that specific reasons shall be given for the opt out.